IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

PIERRE HASCHEFF, AN INDIVIDUAL,

Case No. 86976

Appellant/Cross-Appellant,

vs.

LYNDA HASCHEFF, AN INDIVIDUAL,

Respondent/Cross-Appellant.

Electronically Filed Jan 26 2024 02:04 PM Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

APPELLANT'S AMENDED OPENING BRIEF

FENNEMORE CRAIG, P.C.

Therese M. Shanks Nevada Bar No. 12890 7800 Rancharrah Parkway Reno, NV 89511 (775) 788-2257 tshanks@fennemorelaw.com

Attorney for Appellant/Cross-Respondent Pierre Hascheff

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether the District Court erred in awarding attorney fees to Respondent/Cross-Appellant Lynda Hascheff ("Lynda") where:

a. Appellant/Cross Respondent Pierre Hascheff ("Pierre") was the prevailing party, not Lynda; and

b. the fees sought by and awarded to Lynda were unreasonable?

2. Whether the District Court erred in interpreting the indemnification provision of the parties' agreement to exclude certain legal fees incurred by Pierre in defense of a legal malpractice action?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is the second appeal between Pierre and Lynda concerning the scope of the indemnification provision contained in their marital settlement agreement (the "MSA"). Under the MSA, Lynda must indemnify Pierre, an attorney, for half of any fees he incurs in defense of a malpractice claim arising from his representation of a client during their marriage.

In the first appeal, this Court reversed the district court's finding that Lynda was not required to indemnify Pierre for *any* of the fees he incurred in defense of a malpractice claim filed against him in 2018 (the "Malpractice Action"). This Court rejected Lynda's argument that Pierre forfeited or otherwise waived his right to seek indemnity under the MSA by failing to promptly notify Lynda of the Malpractice

Action because this Court found that the MSA did not include any such notification requirements. Because the Malpractice Action was the product of related, collateral litigation between Pierre's former clients (the "Collateral Litigation"), this Court remanded this matter to the district court to determine what fees were incurred by Pierre in defense of the Malpractice Action.

Accepting Lynda's argument that the MSA was ambiguous, this Court expressly instructed the district court to resolve any ambiguity in the MSA as to what fees related to the Collateral Litigation were "in defense" of the Malpractice Action. This Court also instructed the district court to determine who was a prevailing party for purposes of the parties' contractual fee provision in the MSA.

On remand, the district court rejected Lynda's argument that most she was obligated to indemnify Pierre was \$147.50, one half of \$295.00 she claimed was the only amount incurred in defense of the Malpractice Action. Instead, it found that Lynda must pay to Pierre \$1,147.00, one half of \$2,295.00. In reaching this amount, the district court declined to find that fees incurred in defense of Pierre's trial testimony in the Collateral Action were in defense of the Malpractice Action, despite the fact that Pierre testified after the Malpractice Action was filed and on matters which are the directly related to and subject of various claims against him in the Malpractice Action.

The district court also refused to permit Pierre to brief the issue of whether he, as opposed to Lynda, was a prevailing party. Lynda repeatedly argued that she was a prevailing party because she had a technical de minimis victory on her declaratory relief motion, i.e., in that she did obtain declaratory relief. It was, not, however, the declaratory relief Lynda wanted. Lynda never disputed she was contractually obligated to indemnify Pierre for *a* malpractice claim under the MSA, but Lynda argued she was not obligated to indemnify Pierre for *this* Malpractice Action (including any corresponding adverse judgment). While Pierre's competing motion was not the one granted, Pierre successfully defeated Lynda's waiver and forfeiture argument underlying her motion.

Prior to the first appeal, the district court had found that neither Lynda nor Pierre were prevailing parties for purposes of an attorney fee award. And, in its order awarding fees, the district court found that Lynda had lost the appeal. But, despite Lynda having received a far worse result following the appeal, and despite Lynda losing every argument she raised, the district court found that Lynda was a prevailing party and awarded her fees in the \$46,675.00. This Court is now asked to determine in this appeal what changed between the district court's first order finding that Lynda was not a prevailing party despite having initially achieved her desired outcome, to the district court's second order, in which Lynda was found to have "prevailed" despite having lost all of her arguments, losing the relief she sought, and Pierre having obtained the relief he sought.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

I. THE MSA

During their divorce, Lynda and Pierre agreed that Lynda would indemnify Pierre for half of any malpractice claim arising from legal representation he provided during the parties' marriage. 4 Appellant's Appendix ("AA") 828 ("In the event Husband is sued for malpractice, Wife agrees to indemnify Husband for one half (1/2) the costs of any defense and judgment."); *see also id.* (releasing all "interspousal obligations . . . except Wife's obligation to defend and indemnify Husband for any malpractice claims").

Relevant to this appeal is Paragraph 40 of the MSA, which states:

Except for the obligations contained in or expressly arising out of this Agreement, each party warrants to the other that he or she has not incurred, and shall not incur, any liability or obligation for the which the other party is, or may be, liable. Except as may be expressly provided in this Agreement, if any claim, action or proceeding, whether or not well founded, shall later be brought seeking to hold one party liable on account of any alleged debt, liability, act, or omission of the other, the warranting party shall, at his or her sole expense, defend the other against the claim, actin or proceeding. The warranting party shall also indemnify the other and hold him or her harmless against any loss or liability that he or she may incur as a result of the claim, action, or proceeding, including attorney fees, costs, and expenses incurred in defending or responding to any such action. In the event Husband is sued for malpractice, Wife agrees to indemnify Husband for one half (1/2) the costs of any defense and judgment. Husband may purchase tail coverages of which Wife shall pay one half (1/2) of such costs.

Id. (emphasis added).

Prior to divorce, Pierre's law practice was the sole source of community income, from which the community benefitted. 4 AA 785. In Paragraph 24 of the MSA, Lynda recognized that any unknown, future obligation arising from Pierre's income benefitting the community would be a joint community obligation for which she was jointly liable. 1 AA 194. And, in Paragraph 38, Lynda and Pierre released each other from all "interspousal obligations . . . except [Lynda's] obligation to defend and indemnify [Pierre] for any malpractice claims." *Id.* at 198.

Also relevant to this appeal is Paragraph 35 of the MSA, the parties'

contractual fee provision, which provides:

35.1 If either party to this Agreement brings an action or proceeding to enforce any provision of this Agreement, or to enforce any judgment or order made by a court in connection with this Agreement, the prevailing party in that action or proceeding shall be entitled to reasonable attorney fees and other reasonably necessary costs from the other party.

35.2 A party intending to bring an action or proceeding to enforce this Agreement shall not be entitled to recover attorney fees and costs under this provision unless he or she first gives the other party at 10 written notice before filing the action or proceeding. The written notice shall specify (1) whether the subsequent action or proceeding is to enforce the original terms of the Agreement; (2) the reasons why the moving party believes the subsequent action or proceeding is necessary; (3) whether there is any action that the other party may take to avoid the necessity for the subsequent action or proceeding; and (4) a period of time within which the other party may avoid the action or proceeding by taking the specified action. The first party shall not be entitled to attorney fees and costs if the other party takes the specified action within the time specified in the notice.

Id.197.¹

¹ The district court previously found that both parties complied with MSA ¶ 35.2, and this finding was affirmed by this Court in the first appeal.

II. THE COLLATERAL LITIGATION AND MALPRACTICE ACTION

Pierre was a practicing attorney until January 2013. In 2018, litigation arose concerning the estate and assets of one of Pierre's former clients, Samuel Jaksick. Specifically, Samuel Jaksick's daughter, Wendy Jaksick ("Wendy") sued her brother Todd Jaksick ("Todd"), who, both during and after Samuel's lifetime, was the trustee of certain trusts and a manager of certain entities that were drafted and/or created by Pierre during his time in private practice. 1 AA 41-46.

Because Wendy's allegations made it apparent that Pierre may be sued for malpractice, Pierre retained independent counsel after he was named as a witness in the Collateral Litigation. Pierre was correct, as Todd filed the Malpractice Action against Pierre on December 26, 2018. Id. at 237-242. Specifically, Todd alleges that Pierre breached his duty to Todd by: (1) drafting an indemnification agreement under which Todd could be personally indemnified by his father's trust of which both Stan and Wendy were beneficiaries, and of which Todd was a trustee, without informing Todd of the inherent conflict of interest; and (2) negligently advising Todd in the creation, management and investment of certain assets and entities, which had resulted in the claims against Todd by Wendy. Id. This litigation was stayed pending the outcome of the Collateral Litigation. After Todd filed the Malpractice Action, Pierre extensively testified as a witness at trial in the Collateral Litigation in February 2019. 4 AA 895-900.

III. THE FIRST APPEAL

A. Lynda Argued She Did Not Have to Indemnify Pierre <u>Any</u> of the Fees He Incurred in Defense of the Malpractice Action.

In January 2020, Pierre notified Lynda of the Collateral Litigation and Malpractice Action, and requested that she indemnify him for half of his incurred fees and costs under MSA ¶ 40. 2 AA 284. Lynda conceded she was generally contractually obligated to pay Pierre, but argued that she did not have to indemnify Pierre for the Malpractice Action because of his delay in notifying her, which she claimed was a breach of various duties Pierre allegedly owed to her under the MSA. 1 AA 159-172. Lynda further refused to pay Pierre unless he agreed to provide her information protected by the attorney-client and/or common interest privilege. 1 AA 13-26.

After Pierre provided Lynda with all the information he could ethically disclose, as well as all of her requested documents, including redacted billing entries, within one day of her request, Lynda filed a motion for declaratory relief. *Id.* She specifically conceded that she was generally obligated to indemnify Pierre under MSA ¶ 40, but argued that she was not required to indemnify Pierre for *any* of the fees related to the Malpractice Action. *Id.* Lynda raised ten bases which she claimed absolved her of her contractual obligation due to Pierre's failure to provide prior notice: (1) laches, (2) collateral estoppel, (3) waiver, (4) breach of MSA ¶ 37, (5) secrecy, (6) lack of transparency, (7) selective enforcement of the MSA, (8) fraud,

(9) breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, and (10) breach of fiduciary duty. *Id.*

Pierre filed a competing motion for an order to show cause why Lynda should not be held in contempt. 1 AA 103-117. He correctly argued that the MSA did not create a duty to notify Lynda, that he did not violate any implied covenant of good faith or fair dealing or breach a fiduciary duty, and that the full disclosure without redactions in the billing entries (which were limited) requested by Lynda to "verify" his claims was all protected by the attorney-client and/or common interest privilege. *Id.*

At the hearing, Lynda again conceded that she was generally obligated to reimburse Pierre under MSA ¶ 40. 3 AA 526 ("So it's our position that it is true that my client [Lynda] has an obligation to indemnify Pierre Hascheff for the expenses he incurred in defense of the malpractice action."). Lynda explained she did not need clarification on the scope of MSA ¶ 40, but was instead seeking declaratory relief that Lynda was not obligated to pay Pierre *any* fees related to the Malpractice Action because she had "no evidence that any of the fees for which he seeks were in defense of that action." *See id.* Lynda further argued that Pierre's failure to promptly notify Lynda and to provide Lynda with her requested unredacted billing entries waived any right Pierre had to seek payment of the fees under MSA ¶ 40. *Id.* at 523-526.

The district court granted Lynda's request for declaratory relief, and found that Lynda was not obligated to pay Pierre for any fees because (1) Pierre's request was barred by laches, and (2) Pierre had not provided sufficient proof that the fees were incurred in defense of the Malpractice Action. 3 AA 622-636. Notably, however, the district court concluded that neither Pierre nor Lynda was a "prevailing party" entitled to fees under the MSA. *Id.* at 635.

B. Lynda Loses the First Appeal.

Pierre appealed the district court's order in Appeal No. 82626, and Lynda cross-appealed the denial of her request for attorney fees. See Appeal No. 82626; see also 3 AA 637 – 4 AA 784. On appeal, Lynda continued to concede that she was generally obligated to indemnify Pierre under MSA ¶ 40 for the defense of amalpractice action, but argued that she was *not* required to pay Pierre *any* fees incurred in defense of the *this* Malpractice Action (or any corresponding adverse judgment) because (1) Pierre did not demonstrate that any of the fees incurred fell within MSA ¶ 40, (2) Pierre was dilatory in his demand and violated a duty to notify, (3) Lynda was not required to compensate Pierre for fees incurred in his capacity as a witness, and (4) Pierre's request was barred by various equitable remedies (i.e. laches). See 3 AA 693 – 4 AA 784; Respondent/Cross-Appellant's Answering Brief on Appeal and Opening Brief on Cross-Appeal (Appeal No. 82626), at pp. 2, 4, 7-8, 11, 35, 13, 15-16, 18-21, 22-24, 29-30, 34-44; see also Reply Brief on Cross-Appeal

(Appeal No. 82626) at pp. 1-2, 4-5, 8-10. Lynda then argued that she should have been awarded attorney fees because she was the prevailing party below, in light of the district court's finding that Lynda owed Pierre nothing. *Id*.

Noting that Lynda did not need clarification as to the scope of MSA ¶ 40 in general, this Court addressed Lynda's argument that "she should not be required to reimburse any fees and costs in the malpractice case as [Pierre] had failed to timely notify her of it," as Lynda's motion for declaratory relief was solely based upon this argument. 4 AA 788-789. This Court rejected Lynda's argument and found that "Pierre was not required to notify Lynda as to the existence of the pending malpractice action against him before seeking indemnification." *Id.* at 794. This Court further found that equitable remedies did not apply to this contractual indemnification issue. *Id.* Thus, it reversed the district court's order applying laches against Pierre's claim. *Id.* at 794-795.

This Court then interpreted MSA ¶ 40 as requiring the actual filing of a malpractice lawsuit against Pierre as a condition precedent before the indemnity obligation could arise. *Id.* at 793. It remanded this matter to the district court to determine what fees incurred after the filing of the Malpractice Action fell within the scope of MSA ¶ 40. *Id.* at 795-796. Recognizing that there may be ambiguity in MSA ¶ 40 as to what fees may be considered in "defense" of the Malpractice

Action, this Court expressly instructed the district court to issue findings on the question of ambiguity. *Id.*

Finally, this Court ordered the district court to make a determination on remand as to "which party is the prevailing party, and then consider an award of reasonable attorney fees and costs in accordance with MSA 35.1." *Id.*

IV. PROCEEDINGS ON REMAND

A. The District Court Makes a Determination on Ambiguity, as Ordered by This Court.

On remand, Pierre noted that this Court's ruling resulted in ambiguity as to whether fees incurred in defense of Pierre's trial testimony in the Collateral Litigation fell within MSA ¶ 40. 4 AA 895-900. Prior to the appeal, the district court and Pierre both interpreted MSA ¶ 40 as covering all fees incurred by Pierre for both the Collateral Litigation and the Malpractice Action. 3 AA 632. This Court's holding that no fees incurred prior to the filing of the Malpractice Action were recoverable left open the question of what, if any, fees incurred in defense of the Collateral Litigation were also in defense of the Malpractice Action after it was filed. 4 AA 795.

In addition to being ordered to consider this question by this Court, the district court found that there was "good cause" to have Pierre and Lynda brief the ambiguity in MSA \P 40. *Id.* at 856.

Pursuant to the district court's order approving the parties' confidentiality agreement, Pierre filed unredacted billing invoices subject to a confidentiality agreement. *Id.* at 858-894. These invoices showed a total of \$12,973.10 in fees and costs incurred by Pierre. *Id.* Of that amount, \$9,373.10 were incurred after the Malpractice Action was filed, of which Pierre's malpractice carrier paid \$2,500. *Id.*

In Pierre's brief on the ambiguity in MSA ¶ 40, Pierre argued that fees incurred in defense of his testimony in the Collateral Litigation trial fell within MSA ¶ 40. *Id.* at 895-900. This testimony occurred after Todd filed the Malpractice Action against Pierre, and concerned many of Todd's allegations. *Id.* at 896-897. Because it was a sworn statement under oath, this testimony would be admissible against Pierre in the Malpractice Action. *Id.*

As an alternative argument, Pierre reduced his sought fees to those entries that specifically referenced the Malpractice Action. *Id.* These totaled \$3,895.00. *Id.* Relevant to this appeal, were two specific time entries for February 21, 2019 and February 22, 2019. *Id.* at 873-874. The February 21, 2019 entry was for \$700.00 and stated "Plan and prepare Pierre Hascheff trial testimony in lawsuit between beneficiaries; review deposition transcript; review complaint; review correspondence." *Id.* at 873. The February 22, 2019 entry was for \$775.00 and stated "Review/analyze expert disclosures in underlying trust case in preparation for client's trial testimony." *Id.* at 874.

Lynda, of course, disagreed. *Id.* at 901-905. She once again argued that she was not required to pay *any* of the fees because, according to Lynda, all of the incurred fees related to the Collateral Litigation and not the Malpractice Action. *Id.* Lynda argued that Pierre could only recover \$295.00, which means that the most Lynda would have to pay is \$147.50. *Id.* at 903-904. Lynda's rationale was that the Malpractice Action was stayed and, therefore, the only fees Lynda had to pay were those related to the physical staying of that lawsuit. *See id.*

Looking at the fees incurred by Pierre after the date the Malpractice Action was filed, the district court provided an itemized list of the fees it found fell within MSA \P 40. *Id.* at 930-939. Excluded from this list were the February 21 and 22 entries. *Id.* at 932-933. Had the district court included the two February entries, the total amount ultimately awarded would have been more than the offer of judgment Pierre had previously served on Lynda. 5 AA 1036.

The district court rejected Lynda's argument that this amount only totaled \$295, and instead found that \$2,295.00 of Pierre's fees fell within MSA $\P 40.^2 4$ AA 933. Thus, Lynda was ordered to reimburse Pierre \$1,147.50. *Id.* at 937.

B. The Prevailing Party Confusion.

On remand, Lynda repeatedly argued that she was a prevailing party because she sought declaratory relief, and she got declaratory relief. *Id.* at 805-808; 920-

² This number is \$1,475.00 less than what Pierre requested.

924. But, *the declaratory relief Lynda obtained was not the declaratory relief she sought*. *See id*. at 933. To the contrary, it was the exact opposite. Lynda, who had consistently conceded she had a general obligation to indemnify Pierre, sought a declaratory judgment that she was *not* obligated to pay Pierre for the Malpractice Action. 1 AA 133-134. She lost that argument. 4 AA 785-796.

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