## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

\* \* \* \* \*

Case No. 86976

PIERRE A. HASCHEFF,

Electronically Filed Feb 14 2024 08:34 AM Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant/Cross-Respondent,

VS.

LYNDA HASCHEFF,

Respondent/Cross-Appellant.

Appeal From Special Order Entered After Final Judgment Second Judicial District Court Case No. DV13-00656

# RESPONDENT'S COMBINED ANSWERING BRIEF ON APPEAL AND OPENING BRIEF ON CROSS-APPEAL

LEONARD LAW, PC Debbie Leonard (#8260) 955 S. Virginia St., Suite #220 Reno, NV 89502 775-964-4656 debbie@leonardlawpc.com

Attorney for Respondent/Cross-Appellant

### NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

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

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Because Pierre never appealed the Indemnity Order, the only issue raised in Pierre's Opening Brief that the Court has jurisdiction to decide is whether the amount of attorneys' fee awarded to Lynda for the district court litigation was reasonable. Pierre has failed to identify any abuse of discretion in the district court's

application of the *Brunzell* factors to justify disturbing that award. As a result, the Fee Order should be affirmed as to its award of fees to Lynda for the district court litigation.

The Court should reject Pierre's challenges to the Indemnity Order on jurisdictional grounds. The Indemnity Order was a special order entered after final judgment that was independently appealable when entered. Because Pierre did not timely appeal, the Court lacks jurisdiction to review the Indemnity Order's two determinations: (1) Lynda's indemnity obligation was only \$1,147.50 and (2) Lynda was the prevailing party.

Even if the Court were to nevertheless exercise jurisdiction, Pierre has failed to identify any abuse of discretion in the Indemnity Order. Lynda (not Pierre) prevailed because she got the exact relief she originally asked for: a declaration that only fees incurred in the Malpractice Action, and not in the Collateral Action, are properly chargeable to her under MSA § 40. She prevailed in numerical terms too: the district court correctly found Lynda owed less than one-quarter the amount that Pierre had demanded at the outset, and less than one-fifth the largest amount he had demanded during the course of the proceedings.

To overcome these plain facts, Pierre misrepresents the record and distorts the COA Order beyond recognition. The Court of Appeals clearly barred Pierre from recovering from Lynda any sums he expended on the Collateral Action. Yet Pierre

flouted the COA Order on remand and continues to do so on appeal, even though it is law of the case. By relitigating matters he already lost, Pierre caused – and continues to cause – Lynda to incur yet more attorneys' fees to respond to his badfaith litigation tactics.

The district court faithfully implemented the COA Order, and Pierre has failed to identify any abuse of discretion by the district court's rejection of sums he incurred for the Collateral Action. To the extent the Court exercises jurisdiction to review it, the Indemnity Order should be affirmed. The district court also properly evaluated the relevant factors and exercised its discretion to award Lynda's reasonable fees for the district court proceedings. That aspect of the Fee Order should be affirmed.

### **ARGUMENT**

### A. Standard Of Review

An award of attorney's fees is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Pub. Emp. Ret. Sys. of Nev. v. Gitter*, 133 Nev. 126, 133, 393 P.3d 673, 680, 682 (2017). The district court's "determination of who is the prevailing party" is part of the decision on attorney's fees, and so is likewise reviewed for abuse of discretion. *201 N. 3rd St. LV, LLC v. Hogs & Heifers of Las Vegas, Inc.*, No. 83907, slip op. at 3, 2023 WL 6780351 (Oct. 12, 2023) (unpublished order) (citing *Las Vegas Metro. Police Dep't v. Blackjack Bonding, Inc.*, 131 Nev. 80, 89-90, 343 P.3d 608, 614-15 (2015)); *see* 

also Oregon Env't Council v. Kunzman, 817 F.2d 484, 496 (9th Cir. 1987) (holding that "[a] finding that a party is not a prevailing party is one of fact that will be set aside if clearly erroneous or if based on an incorrect legal standard").

The district court's determination of whether the law-of-the-case doctrine applies is reviewed de novo. *Estate of Adams v. Fallini*, 132 Nev. 814, 818, 386 P.3d 621, 624 (2016). Contract interpretation and, specifically, the interpretation of a contractual indemnity clause, is a question of law that is reviewed *de novo*. *Golden Rd. Motor Inn, Inc. v. Islam*, 132 Nev. 476, 481, 376 P.3d 151, 155 (2016); *Reyburn Lawn & Landscape Designers, Inc. v. Plaster Dev. Co.*, 127 Nev. 331, 339, 255 P.3d 268, 274 (2011).

# B. The Court Lacks Jurisdiction To Review The February 17, 2023 Indemnity Order Because Pierre Failed To Timely Appeal

Because Pierre failed to timely appeal the Indemnity Order, he cannot now belatedly contest the district court's determinations that (1) Lynda's indemnity obligation was only \$1,147.50; and (2) Lynda was the prevailing party. This Court has "emphasize[d] that an appeal must be taken from an appealable order when first entered." *Campos-Garcia v. Johnson*, 130 Nev. 610, 611, 331 P.3d 890, 890 (2014). An order is appealable as a "special order after final judgment" if it "affects the rights of a party to the action, growing out of the previously entered judgment." *TRP Int'l, Inc. v. Proimtu MMI LLC*, 133 Nev. 84, 85, 391 P.3d 763, 764 (2017) (citing *Gumm v. Mainor*, 118 Nev. 912, 920, 59 P.3d 1220, 1225 (2002)). A notice of appeal from

any such order must be filed "no later than 30 days after the date that written notice of entry of the judgment or order appealed from is served." NRAP 4(a)(1). "[T]he proper and timely filing of a notice of appeal is jurisdictional. Jurisdictional rules go to the very power of this court to act," so if this Court lacks jurisdiction, it cannot review the district court decision. *Rust v. Clark Cty. Sch. Dist.*, 103 Nev. 686, 688, 747 P.2d 1380, 1382 (1987) (citation omitted).

Here, the parties' entire post-judgment dispute related to the scope of Lynda's indemnity obligation in MSA § 40. The amount of Lynda's indemnity obligation and the determination that she was the prevailing party were finally decided in the February 17, 2023 Indemnity Order. 4AA0930-0939. That was an appealable special order entered after final judgment because it finally determined – and thereby affected – the parties' respective rights and obligations growing out of the final judgment – i.e., the divorce decree – which incorporated the MSA. *See TRP Int'l*, 133 Nev. at 85, 391 P.3d at 764. As a result, to have the Indemnity Order reviewed by this Court, Pierre had to appeal the Indemnity Order within 30 days. *See Campos-Garcia*, 130 Nev. at 611, 331 P.3d at 891. His failure to do so created a jurisdictional bar. *See Rust*, 103 Nev. at 688, 747 P.2d at 1382.

Notably, Lynda filed her *Wilfong* affidavit seeking attorneys' fees on March 10, 2023, more than a week before the deadline to appeal the Indemnity Order. 4AA0940-1000; 5AA1001-1019. Pierre was on notice as of that date that Lynda was

seeking significant fees based on the Indemnity Order. 4AA0948. Pierre could have filed a motion for reconsideration or notice of appeal but chose not to. *See* 5AA1112. Thus, "the determinations in [the Indemnity Order] became final thirty days after the entry of the order and are no longer subject to attack by appeal or otherwise." *See Cole v. Shafer*, 111 Nev. 1, 3 n.1, 888 P.2d 433, 433 n.1 (1995).

The fact that Pierre appealed the district court's subsequently entered June 12, 2023 Fee Order did not resurrect his right to appeal the determinations made in the Indemnity Order. *See Holiday Inn Downtown v. Barnett*, 103 Nev. 60, 63, 732 P.2d 1376, 1379 (1987). Rather, this Court's "review of the appeal" of the Fee Order is "limited to the propriety of [that] order." *Id.*; *see also Cole*, 111 Nev. at 3 n.1, 888 P.2d at 433 n.1 (because appellant "did not appeal from the district court's [earlier] order ... the determinations in that order became final thirty days after the entry of the order and are no longer subject to attack by appeal or otherwise"). As these authorities make clear, the Court has no jurisdiction to consider issues other than whether the district court abused its discretion regarding the amount of fees awarded. *See Holiday Inn*, 103 Nev. at 63, 732 P.2d at 1379.

# C. To The Extent The Court Considers It, The Indemnity Order Should Be Affirmed

Even if this Court concludes it has jurisdiction to review the Indemnity Order, it should affirm because the district court: (1) faithfully applied the COA Order; (2) did not abuse its discretion when determining the amount of fees that Pierre could

contend were incurred in defense of the Malpractice Action; and (3) correctly concluded that Lynda, not Pierre, was the prevailing party.

# 1. The District Court Properly Applied The Court of Appeals' Binding Order In Determining The Amount Of The Indemnity Obligation

Pierre disingenuously contends that the district court erred by "[r]eading a limitation into MSA ¶ 40 that no fees incurred in the Collateral Litigation are recoverable." AOB 29. But the district court did not "read" any "limitation" into the MSA; it faithfully implemented the remand instructions from the Court of Appeals. 4AA0932-0933. As the Court of Appeals clearly instructed, "the first part of the 'Indemnification and Hold Harmless' provision in MSA § 40 as written **does not permit indemnification from Lynda for the fees and costs incurred in the collateral trust litigation.**" 4AA0792 (emphasis added). Indemnifiable "legal fees and costs must arise from the malpractice action **only**." 4AA0792 (emphasis added). The district court correctly applied this language and reviewed the evidence submitted by Pierre to quantify the amount of the indemnity required by MSA § 40. 4AA0932-0933.

By revisiting this issue now, Pierre violates the law-of-the-case doctrine and seeks to relitigate matters that that he lost in his earlier appeal. "[W]hen an appellate court decides a rule of law, that decision governs the same issues in subsequent proceedings." *Wheeler Springs Plaza, LLC v. Beemon*, 119 Nev. 260, 266, 71 P.3d

1258, 1262 (2003); see Recontrust Co., N.A. v. Zhang, 130 Nev. 1, 7-8, 317 P.3d 814, 818 (2014); Hsu v. Cnty. of Clark, 123 Nev. 625, 629–30, 173 P.3d 724, 728 (2007). Pierre cannot circumvent these authorities by faulting the district court for doing exactly what the Court of Appeals "specifically instructed" it to do. See Wheeler Springs Plaza, 119 Nev. at 266, 71 P.3d at 1262. His arguments that Lynda's indemnity obligation should include fees that Pierre chose to incur for the Collateral Action contravenes the law of the case. 4AA0792.

Pierre also misrepresents the facts—as well as the contents of the district court's order—when he states that the district court should have ordered Lynda to indemnify him for the February 21, 2019 and February 22, 2019 entries. AOB 32. The district court did not say that "any time spent reviewing a complaint was compensable." Id. (emphasis added). Rather, it counted entries referencing "the [Malpractice] Complaint"—not a complaint in a different case—and found that the February 21 entry did not clearly refer to that Complaint. 4AA0933:2-4, :26-28. Moreover, the February 22 entry did not reference any "complaint." 4AA0873-0874. Pierre has offered no other reason that entry should have been included, thereby "neglect[ing] his responsibility to cogently argue, and present relevant authority, in support of his appellate concerns." Edwards v. Emperor's Garden Rest., 122 Nev. 317, 330 n.38, 130 P.3d 1280, 1288 n.38 (2006); see AOB 32. It was well within the district court's discretion to decide which entries met the rule established by the

Court of Appeals, and Pierre has failed to provide a basis for the Court to second guess those determinations.

Pierre also misrepresents the law when he suggests that inclusion of these two entries would have automatically "entitled [him] to fees under NRCP 68." AOB 32. The Supreme Court has consistently held that "the district court is vested with discretion to consider... the propriety of granting attorney fees" under NRCP 68, and the district court may decline to do so. *N. Las Vegas Infrastructure Inv.* & Constr., LLC v. City of N. Las Vegas, 139 Nev. Adv. Op. 5, 525 P.3d 836, 841 (2023); see Beattie v. Thomas, 99 Nev. 579, 588-89, 668 P.2d 268, 274 (1983). As a result, not only are these entries clearly outside the scope of MSA § 40 determined by the Court of Appeals, but Pierre cannot use them to shoehorn his failed tactics into an offer-of-judgment win.

### 2. Lynda Prevailed Because She Obtained The Relief She Sought

Pierre has failed to identify any abuse of discretion in the district court's determination that Lynda was the prevailing party because she got the relief she sought. "A party prevails 'if it succeeds on *any significant issue* in litigation which achieves some of the benefit it sought in bringing suit." *Blackjack Bonding*, 131 Nev. at 90, 343 P.3d at 615 (emphasis in the original). "To be a prevailing party, a party need not succeed on every issue." *Id.* The same standard applies under a contractual attorney fee provision as under a statutory one. *See Pardee Homes v. Wolfram*, 135

Nev. 173, 179, 444 P.3d 423, 427 (2019) (citing *Blackjack Bonding*, 131 Nev. at 90, 343 P.3d at 615).

Here, Lynda filed the DR Motion for the express purpose of obtaining a declaration "that [she] is only responsible for fees incurred in the malpractice action and that she is not responsible for the fees or costs [Pierre] chose to incur to have personal counsel protect his interests in connection with his role as a percipient witness in the [Collateral] Action."1AA0024. Lynda obtained exactly that relief with the Court of Appeals holding that the "legal fees and costs must arise from the malpractice action only...[and] MSA § 40 as written does not permit indemnification from Lynda for the fees and costs incurred in the collateral trust litigation." 4AA0791-0792. In applying that standard, the district court recognized that MSA § 40 is not ambiguous (4AA0909-0911), required Lynda to indemnify Pierre only for those fees "arising from the malpractice action only," and excluded "fees charged for representation in the collateral trust litigation." 4AA0932-0933. Because Lynda achieved the benefits she sought by seeking declaratory relief, the district court correctly deemed her the prevailing party. See Blackjack Bonding, 131 Nev. at 90, 343 P.3d at 615.

# a. Lynda Has Consistently Agreed She Is Responsible For Half The Fees To Defend Against The Malpractice Action

In the face of this clear result, Pierre resorts to numerous misrepresentations and a strawman argument that fabricates the record regarding the relief sought by

Lynda. First, Pierre deceitfully states that Lynda sought "declaratory relief that [she] was not obligated to pay Pierre **any** fees related to the Malpractice Action..." AOB 8 (emphasis in the original). That is simply false—no matter how many times Pierre repeats it – and Pierre fails to cite a single place in the record that supports this falsehood. *See* AOB 10, 14-15, 18, 23-25.

The record is clear that Lynda sought a declaration to clarify that she was responsible for fees that Pierre could demonstrate he incurred to defend against the Malpractice Action, but not other fees. 1AA0024 (requesting "an Order clarifying that Ms. Hascheff is only responsible for fees incurred in the malpractice action"); 1AA0134 (stating that "if [Pierre] is sued for malpractice, his former wife is responsible for one-half of the costs specifically incurred in the defense of that malpractice lawsuit. Period."); 1AA0062 ("Ms. Hascheff remains prepared to pay her one-half of the total fees and expenses related to the malpractice action"). The district court correctly summarized the relief sought by Lynda:

Ms. Hascheff asks this Court to enter an Order clarifying MSA § 40 that she is only responsible for fees incurred in a malpractice action against Judge Hascheff, and that she is not responsible for the fees or costs he chose to incur to have personal counsel protect his interests in connection with his role as a percipient witness in a collateral trust action.

3AA0623:9-12. The fact that Lynda may have raised multiple *grounds* for this relief does not alter the conclusion that Lynda prevailed in obtaining the relief she sought. 4AA0791-0792, 0932-0933.

### b. Pierre Refused – Until After Remand – To Provide The Information Necessary To Verify What Lynda Owed

Importantly, until the district court on remand finally ordered Pierre to produce unredacted invoices, Lynda had no idea which, if any, fees were incurred in the Malpractice Action because Pierre would not provide the relevant documentation. As confirmed by the Court of Appeals, Lynda had no obligation to blindly pay any and all sums that Pierre demanded. 4AA0790-0792, 0795. She always stood ready to pay her fair share of properly documented fees and filed the DR Motion *precisely to force Pierre to provide that documentation*. 1AA0024 ("[Lynda] never took the position that she would not pay her half of the fees... She has repeatedly asked [Pierre] to share with her what those fees are."). As a result of her DR Motion, Pierre *was* eventually forced to provide relevant documentation, and Lynda got the clarification she sought. 4AA0855-0857.

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